ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 


I. 	 The trial court erred by allowing the jury to award duplicative damages for 
"[c]ompensation for a permanent injury" and future pain and suffering. 

II. 	 The trial court erred by allowing the jUry to award duplicative damages for 
"[c]ompensation for a permanent injury" (which was not specified to be limited to the 
future effects of the permanencY) and past loss of enjoyment of life. 

III. 	 The trial court committed error by allowing the jury to hear Respondent's counsel's 
theory of Shamblin-type excess coverage available to Petitioner to pay the jury's 
verdict. 

IV. 	 The trial court erred by instructing the jury on the possibility ofShamblin-type excess 
insurance coverage because the same was a comment on the evidence in violation of 
Rule 51 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure and gave undue influence to the 
possibility of such excess insurance coverage. 

V. 	 The trial court erred by denying Petitioner's Motion in Limine to Exclude Evidence. 
Testimony and Argument Relating to Past Medical Expenses Not Actually Paid by the 
Plaintiff. 

A. 	 Barring Respondent from recovering write-off amounts not paid or incurred by 
himself or by his insurance company on his behalf or, in the alternative, 
allowing Petitioner to introduce evidence of billing reductions to rebut the 
reasonableness ofRespondent's claimed damages, does not violate the collateral 
source rule. 

B. 	 The trial court erred by allowing Respondent to recover the amounts ofmedical 
bills that were written-off because no individual or entity will ever be 
responsible for the payment of such amounts. 

C. 	 Even if the trial court did not err by allowing Respondent to recover the 
amount of his medical bills that were written-off, the trial court erred by not 
allowing Petitioner to introduce evidence of the discounted amounts as evidence 
ofthe true reasonable value of Respondent's medical expenses. 
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 


This case arises out of a motor vehicle accident which occurred in Monongalia 

County, West Virginia, on April 6, 2010. Joint Appendix at 000002 (hereinafter "J.A. at ''). As 

a result of the accident, Petitioner, John N. Kenney ("Petitioner"), was charged with fust offense 

driving under the influence ("DUI"). Id. Petitioner later pled no contest to first offense DUI. J.A. at 

679. Respondent, Samuel C. Liston ("Respondent") sustained injuries in the accident and sought 

medical treatment therefor. J.A. at 000045. Respondent's health insurance carrier (Blue CrosslBlue 

Shield) paid a substantial portion of Respondent's medical bills. J.A. at 000045 - 000046. 

Additionally, many ofRespondent's medical expenses were written-off or downwardly adjusted. Id. 

Neither Respondent nor Respondent's health insurance carrier were responsible for the payment of 

the amounts which were written-off. Id. 

Prior to trial, Petitioner filed a motion in limine regarding the amount ofthe write-offs 

contained within Respondent's medical bills. J.A. at 000006 - 000015. Petitioner argued that since 

the amounts were neither paid nor incurred by Respondent or Respondent's health insurance carrier, 

Respondent should not be able to introduce evidence of the same at trial. J.A. at 000008 - 000010. 

In the alternative, Petitioner argued that the amounts of the write-offs should be admissible as 

evidence ofthe reasonable value ofRespondent' s medical expenses. J.A. at 000011 - 000013. The 

trial court denied this motion in limine and ruled that Respondent could recover the amount ofthe 

write-offs and further ruled that Petitioner could not introduce evidence of the amount ofthe write

offs to prove the reasonable value of Respondent's medical expenses. J.A. at 000073 - 000079. 
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Also prior to trial, Respondent submitted a proposed verdict form which contained 

separate line items for permanent injury and loss of enjoyment of life. J.A. at 000042 - 000044. 

Petitioner objected to the proposed verdict form, arguing that Respondent could not recover for both 

permanency and loss ofenjoyment oflife; thus, lines for both awards should not be included on the 

jury verdict form. J.A. at 000062 - 000065. Therefore, Petitioner proposed that the line item for 

permanency be stricken from the Petitioner's verdict form. J.A. at 000063. 

Trial began on September 18, 2012. J.A. at 000080. The case was tried in a 

bifurcated manner, with the jury first determining compensatory damages and subsequently 

determining punitive damages. J.A. at 000080 - 000084. The issue regarding the line item for 

permanency was addressed by the trial court on September 20,2012, during the third day of trial. 

J.A. at 568 - 569. The trial court determined that "Compensation for a permanent injury" should 

remain on the verdict form and "Compensation for future loss of enjoyment of life" should be 

removed from the verdict form. Id. Petitioner objected and argued that the proper line item should 

be "Compensation for future loss of enjoyment of life" and that there should be no line item for 

"Compensation for a permanent injury." J.A. at 000062 - 000066; 568-569. The trial court 

overruled Petitioner's objections. J.A. at 569. Therefore, the verdict form which was eventually 

submitted to the jury contained, inter alia, line items for "Compensation for a permanent injury", 

"Compensation for future pain and suffering", and "Compensation for past loss of enjoyment of 

life." J.A. at 000081 - 000082. 

The jury returned a verdict on the first phase ofthe bifurcated trial on September 21, 

2012. Id. The jury awarded compensatory damages totaling $325,272.92. Id. This amount 

represented $74,061.00 for past medical expenses, $19,520.00 for future medical expenses, 
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$5,000.00 for past pain and suffering, $16,000.00 for future pain and suffering, $18,000.00 for past 

emotional distress and mental anguish, $0.00 for future emotional distress and mental anguish, 

$12,000.00 for past loss of enjoyment of life, $170,300.00 for "[c]ompensation for a permanent 

injury", $10,391.92 for past lost wages, and $0.00 for future lost wages. Id 

At this point, the trial court revealed to the jury that their service was not yet complete 

and explained to the jury that the second phase of the trial would begin. J.A. at 665 - 666. 

Respondent's counsel called Petitioner as an adverse witness during the punitive phase of the trial. 

J.A. at 673. During Respondent's counsel's cross- examination ofPetitioner, Respondent introduced 

evidence and testimony regarding the financial position ofPetitioner. J.A. at 675 - 677; 687 - 688. 

During this line ofquestioning, Respondent's counsel elicited testimony from Petitioner regarding 

the fact that Petitioner had insurance coverage. J.A. at 688. Petitioner's counsel then elicited 

testimony from Petitioner regarding the fact that the coverage limit of his insurance policy is 

$100,000.00. J.A. at 695 -696. On re-cross examination, Respondent's counsel then attempted to 

question Petitioner regarding Respondent's contention that Petitioner may have unlimited insurance 

coverage due to the circumstances of this case.! J.A. at 703. Petitioner's counsel objected. J.A. at 

703 - 706. 

lBy way of background, Respondent's counsel contends that pursuant to Shamblin v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. 
Co., 175, W. Va. 337,332 S.E.2d 639 (1985), Petitioner's automobile liability insurer is responsible for any 
excess verdict in this case. JA. at 704. The undersigned counsel do not represent Petitioner with respect to his 
insurance coverage. Petitioner has retained personal counsel to represent him with respect to his insurance 
coverage. JA. at 704. Subsequent to trial, Respondent's counsel amended the Complaint to seek declaratory 
judgment regarding whether Petitioner's automobile liability insurer is liable for the entirety ofthe jury verdict 
pursuant to the tenets ofShamblin. JA. at 000138. The coverage issue is still being litigated at the trial court 
level and, to date, no determination has been made as to whether Petitioner's automobile liability insurer will 
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The jury was then excused while the trial court determined whether such information 

was admissible. J.A. at 707. Outside ofthe presence ofthe jury, the trial court ultimately ruled that 

Respondent's counsel could ask one (1) question regarding the contention that Petitioner essentially 

has unlimited insurance coverage. J.A. at 707 - 708. Petitioner's counsel then inquired of the trial 

court as to whether she would be permitted to question Petitioner regarding the fact that his 

automobile liability insurer had informed him that its position was that he has only $100,000.00 in 

coverage for the matter. J.A. at 709. However, the trial court ruled that Petitioner's counsel could 

not ask any such question of Petitioner. Id 

The trial court also sua sponte determined that the jury should also be instructed on 

the issue. J.A. at 707 - 708. Petitioner's counsel ultimately objected to the instruction, arguing that 

the same was an impennissible comment on the evidence in violation of Rule 51 of the West 

Virginia Rules ofCivil Procedure. J.A. at 746. The instruction which was ultimately read to thejury 

stated as follows: 

In considering the amount ofpunitive damages to award in this case, ifany, you may 

consider some or all of the following: 


[...] 


4. 	 The wealth of [petitioner] as demonstrated by his assets at the time of the 
automobile collision. 

The Court instructs you that because ofcertain legal actions that have been taken in 
this case there mayor may not be additional coverage to pay whatever your verdict 
maybe. 

lA. at 000113. No other evidence which the jury heard during trial regarding Petitioner's wealth (or 

lack thereof) was presented to the j ury by way ofa similar jury instruction. J.A. at 0001 I 1- 000114. 

be responsible for any portion of the excess verdict in this case. 
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The jury ultimately rendered a punitive damage verdict in the amount of $300,000.00. J.A. at 

000083. 

Subsequently, Petitioner timely filed a Motion for Post-Trial Relief in which he 

requested remittitur, a new trial, or a new trial on the issue ofpunitive damages. J.A. at 000085 

000114. The trial court denied Petitioner's motion by Order entered February 26, 2013. J.A. at 

000130 - 000134. 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

Petitioner presents this brief respectfully requesting that the February 2, 2012 and 

February 26,2013 Orders of the Circuit Court of Monongalia County be reversed and a new trial 

granted due to numerous reversible errors committed prior to and during trial. Damages for a 

''permanent injury" are duplicative ofdamages for future pain and suffering. The phrase "permanent 

injury" is an umbrella term which encompasses all types of future damages (including future pain 

and suffering). In this case, the trial court committed reversible error by allowing separate line items 

to he placed on the verdict form for "[c ]ompensation for a permanent injury" and future pain and 

suffering. 

Along the same lines, in direct contravention ofFlannery v. United States, the trial 

court permitted the jury to award "separate amounts for both the permanency ofPlaintiff' s injury and 

the loss of enjoyment of life." The line item on the verdict form for "[c]ompensation for a 

permanent injury" was not limited to compensation for the future effects of the permanent injury. 

Additionally, the trial court pemlitted the jury to award a separate amount for past loss ofenjoyment 

oflife. Therefore, pursuant to Flannery v. United States, the trial court committed reversible error by 
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permitting the jury to award duplicative damages for "[c]ompensation for a permanent injury" and 

past loss of enjoyment of life. 

Respondent's counsel contends that because a demand was made to settle this matter 

within Petitioner's policy limits prior to suit being filed, the case falls within the tenets ofShamblin 

v. Nationwide Mutual Ins. Co., 175 W. Va. 337, 332 S.E.2d 639 (1985). Yet, no judicial 

determination regarding the possibility ofexcess coverage had been made at the time oftrial? The 

trial court erred by permitting Respondent's counsel to cross-examine Petitioner regarding the 

speculative possibility that there may be "unlimited" insurance coverage available to Petitioner. 

Additionally, the trial court's error in this respect was compounded by the trial court's refusal to 

allow Petitioner's counsel to elicit testimony from Petitioner regarding the fact that Petitioner had 

been informed by his insurance carrier that there was only $100,000.00 in insurance coverage 

available to him. 

Further, the trial court committed reversible by instructing the jury that "because of 

certain legal actions that have been taken in this case there mayor may not be additional coverage to 

pay whatever your verdict may be." This instruction amounted to a comment on the evidence in 

violation of Rule 51 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure because the jury was not 

instructed on any other evidence they heard regarding Petitioner's fmancial status. In other words, 

Petitioner's allegedly unlimited insurance coverage was singled out and emphasized to the jury by 

way of an instruction to the exclusion of all other evidence elicited regarding Petitioner's financial 

status. 

2In fact, no such determination has been made to date. 
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Moreover, the trial court erred with regard to its pre-trial ruling regarding the 

admissibility ofthe amount ofwrite-offs in Respondent's medical bills. Such write-offs are merely 

illusory charges which were never paid (or even incurred) by Respondent, his health insurer, or any 

other entity. The amount of the write-offs within Respondent's medical bills were not "payments" 

that are subject to the collateral source rule. Therefore, the trial court committed reversible error by 

finding that the write-off amounts were subject to the collateral source rule and were recoverable by 

Respondent. 

Last, even ifthe trial court did not err by allowing Respondent to recover damages for 

the write-off amounts, the trial court erred by prohibiting Petitioner from introducing the write-off 

amounts as evidence ofthe true reasonable value ofRespondent's medical expenses. It is axiomatic 

that the proper measure of damages for medical expenses is the reasonable value of the medical 

expenses - not necessarily the total amount paid or billed. Thus, the trial court committed reversible 

error by finding that the write-off amounts were not admissible as evidence ofthe reasonable value 

of Respondent's medical expenses. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Oral argument is appropriate in this case because some of the issues have not been 

authoritatively decided by this Court and the decisional process would be aided by oral argument. 

Petitioner further asserts that Rule 20 argument is appropriate in this case because an issue of first 

impression is involved and conflicting decisions exist among the lower tribunals. 

ARGUMENT 

"Although the ruling ofa trial court in granting or denying a motion for a new trial is 

entitled to great respect and weight, the trial court's ruling will be reversed on appeal when it is clear 
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that the trial court has acted under some misapprehension of the law or the evidence." SyI. Pt. 4, 

Sanders v. Georgia-Pacific Corp., 159 W. Va. 621,225 S.E.2d 218 (1976). While the trial court's 

decision denying Petitioner's motion for a new trial in this case is governed by an abuse ofdiscretion 

standard, to the extent that said decision hinges on the trial court's interpretation of the law, it is 

subject to de novo review by this Court. Tennant v. Marion Health Care Found., Inc., 194 W. Va. 

97, 104,459 S.E.2d 374, 381 (1995). "An appellate court is more disposed to affirm the action ofa 

trial court in setting aside a verdict and granting a new trial than when such action results in a final 

judgment denying a new trial." SyI. Pt. 2, Lively v. Rufus, 207 W. Va. 436, 533 S.E.2d 662 (2000). 

In this case, the trial court committed prejudicial error in its application ofthe law in 

several respects, which are set forth below. Consequently, Petitioner should be granted a new trial. 

I. 	 The trial court erred by allowing the jury to award duplicative damages for 
"[c]ompensation for a permanent injury" and future pain and suffering. 

"The term 'permanent injury' is used as a threshold condition that must ordinarily be 

shown in order to recover any future damages surrounding a personal injury[.]" Flannery v. United 

States, 171 W. Va. 27, 29, 297 S.E.2d433, 435 (1982)(emphasis added). "Once a permanent injury 

has been established then the following elements of future damages can be considered": 

(1) Residuals or future effects of an injury which have reduced the capability of an 
individual to function as a whole man; (2) future pain and suffering; (3) loss or 
impairment of earning capacity; and (4) future medical expenses. 

Id. at 30, 436 (quoting SyI. Pt. 10, Jordan v. Bero, 158 W. Va. 28,210 S.E.2d 618 (1974)). 

In other words, a plaintiff must prove permanency before he or she can recover any 

future damages. The permanency ofthe plaintiff s injury is then measured by the jury assessing sub

categories of future general damages flowing from the permanent injury, such as future loss of 
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enjoyment oflife, future pain and suffering, future loss or impairment ofearning capacity, and future 

medical expenses.3 See Flannery, 171 W. Va. at 30, 297 S.E.2d at 436. 

In this case, Petitioner objected to the inclusion of"[c]ompensation for a permanent 

injury" on the verdict form, arguing that the same is not an appropriate line item ofdamages. J.A. at 

000062 - 000063; 568 - 569. The trial court overruled Petitioner's objection.4 J.A. at 569. In 

denying Petitioner's Motion for Post-Trial Reliefon this issue, the trial court relied on the following 

passage from Flannery: 

What Jordan makes clear is that once a permanent injury has been established that 
in addition to future pecuniary expenses or liquidated damages and losses such as 
medical, hospital and kindred expenses and loss of future wages and earning 
capacity, the plaintiff is entitled to additional damages for future pain and suffering 
and for the permanent effect of the injury itselfon ''the capability ofan individual 
to function as a whole man. ' 

J. A. at 000131 (boldface added by trial court). Based on this passage, the trial court reasoned that 

Respondent "was entitled to recovery for 'future pain and suffering' and for the 'permanent effect of 

the injury itself. '" J.A. at 000131. Yet, the trial court failed to recognize that the "permanent effect 

ofthe injury itselfon the capability ofan individual to function as a whole man" is the same as "loss 

ofenjoyment oflife." Flannery, 171 W. Va. at 31, 297 S.E.2d at 437 (stating that the "defmition of 

a permanent injury which includes 'those future effects of an injury which have reduced the 

capability of an individual to function as a whole man' is the appropriate area for considering the 

3 "The loss of enjoyment of life resulting from a permanent injury is part ofthe general measure ofdamages 
flowing from the permanent injury." Syl. Pt. 4, Wilt v. Buracker, 191 W. Va. 39, 443 S.E.2d 196 (1993) 
(emphasis added). The other "part[ s]" of the general measure ofdamages flowing from a permanent injury 
would be future pain and suffering, future loss or impairment ofeaming capacity, and future medical expenses. 
Flannery, 171 W. Va. 30,297 S.E.2d at 436. 

4 The trial court's ruling that future pain and suffering is not duplicative ofdamages for a permanent injury is a 
question of law which is subject to de novo review by this Court. Syl. Pt. 1, Chrystal R.M v. Charlie A.L., 
194 W. Va. 138, 459 S.E.2d 415 (1995) ("Where the issue on appeal from the circuit court is clearly a 

question of law [ ... ] we apply a de novo standard of review. "). 
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element of loss of enjoyment of life"). Therefore, the above-quoted passage from Flannery - on 

which the trial court relied - essentially states that a plaintiff can recover for future pain and 

suffering and future loss of enjoyment of life. Nowhere in Flannery did the Court state that a 

plaintiff could recover for "compensation for a permanent injury" and future pain and suffering. 

As a result ofthe trial court's ruling, the jury was permitted to award $16,000.00 for 

future pain and suffering and $170,300.00 for "[c]ompensation for a permanent injury". J.A. at 

000100. Ifpermanency had been included on the verdict form and all other future general damages 

omitted from the verdict form, there may not have been error. However, the jury was permitted to 

award damages for the umbrella category of"permanency" as well as a subcategory thereof - future 

pain and suffering. J.A. at 00099 - 000100. This would be the equivalent ofa jury awarding a line 

item ofdamages for the umbrella category of"pecuniary" damages and also awarding a line item of 

damages for the subcategories of medical expenses or lost wages. See 1d at 29, 435 (stating that 

"pecuniary" damages include medical expenses, lost wages, and lost earning capacity).

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