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

included on the verdict form, and consequently, this issue should also be deemed waived. 

The Petitioner's assignments of error regarding Shamblin-type excess coverage 

should also be rejected because the Petitioner opened the door for any purported error on 

this issue. In the punitive damage portion of the case, the Petitioner placed his financial 

condition at issue. Furthermore, Petitioner's counsel iIIicited testimony from the Petitioner 

as to the amount of insurance coverage available to him, despite knowing that there was 

an issue regarding Shamblin-type excess coverage in the case. This testimony opened 
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the door to the inquiry regarding the Petitioner's understanding regarding the amount of 

insurance coverage that he had in this case. It is simply improperforthe Petitioner to seek 

relief for any purported error that was caused by him. Further, the jury instruction given by 

the Court on this issue was not a comment on the evidence in violation of Rule 51 of the 

- -'West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure. The instruction did not single out or advise the jury 

that the Petitioner had unlimited insurance coverage. 

Finally, the trial court properly ruled that Mr. Liston was able to present the value of 

his medical expenses through the medical bills without reducing the medical expenses for 

any reductions obtained as a result of a collateral source paid for by Mr. Liston. Moreover, 

the Petitioner waived this argument by failing to vouch the record as to the specific amount 

that he claimed the medical bills should have been reduced by. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Respondent does notbelieve Ora'i Argument is necessaryon Petitioner's Appeal in 

accordance with Rule 18(a)(3) of the W.Va. Rules of Appellate Procedure. 

ARGUMENT 

l. 	 The jury's awards for the line items labeled "[clompensation for a permanent 
injury" and "[fJuture pain and sufering" were clearly proper under West 
Virginia law and were not duplicative damages. 

- The Petitioner's assertion that there was a duplication of damages arising from the 

jury's awards for the line items identified on the verdict form as "compensation for a 

permanent injury" and ''future pain and suffering" is without merit. The jury co~rectly 

applied West Virginia law which permits a plaintiff, who has suffered a permanent injury, 
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to receive an award for both future pain and suffering and for the permanent effect of the 

injury itself on the capability of the individual to function as a whole person. The record 

clearly d~monstratesthat "compensation for a permanent injury" as used on the verdict 

form meant the "permanent effect of the injury itself on the capability of an individual to 

function as a whole man" as set forth in Flannery v. United States ofAmerica, 171, W. Va. 

297 S.E.2d 433 (W. Va. 1982), and that the trial court, the parties, and the jury understood 

this. 

A. 	 West Virginia law entitles a plaintiff who has been permanently injured 
to recover damages for both future pain and suffering and for the 
permanent effect of the injury itself on the capability of the plaintiff to 
function as a whole person. 

West Virginia's seminal case regarding future damages is Flannery v. United States 

ofAmerica, 171 W. Va. 27, 297 S.E.2d 433 (W. Va. 1982). In Flannery, the West Virginia 

Supreme Court of Appeals explained its holding in Jordan v. Bero, 210 S.E.2d 618 (W. Va. 

1974) and discussed what dan:ages are proper for a permanent injury. The. Court in 
'. • 	 f 

Flannery held: 

What Jordan makes clear is that once a permanent injury has been 
established that in addition to future pecuniary expenses or liquidated 
damages and losses such as medical, hospital and kindred expenses and 
loss offuture wages and earning capacity, the plaintiff is entitled to additional 
damages for future pain and suffering and for the permanent effect of 
the injury itself on "the capability of an. indiviQual to function as a whole 
man." 210 S.E.2d at 634. (emphasis added) 

We believe that the loss of enjoyment of life is encompassed within and is 
an element of the permanency of the plaintiff's injury. To state the matter in 
slightly different manner, the degree of permanent injury is measured by 
ascertaining how the injury has deprived the plaintiff of his customary 
activities as a whole person. The loss of customary activities constitutes the 
loss of enjoyment of life. 

Flannery at 171 W. Va. 30, and 297 S.E. 2d 436. 
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The above cited law makes it clear that once a permanent injury has been 

established future damages can be considered by ajury including, but not limited to: future 

medical expenses; future lost wages; future pain and suffering; and the permanent effect 

of the injury itself on the capability of an individual to function as a whole man. 

Consequently, each of these are separate recoverable elements of future damages that 

should be reflected as a separate line items of damages on a verdict form in a permanent 

injury case, 

Despite the above cited law, the Petitioner claims that the trial court erred by 

permitting the verdict form to contain a line for "compensation for a permanent injury" 

rather than a line for compensation for ''future loss of enjoyment of life", and that this 

somehow caused Mr. Liston to receive a double recovery. In making this claim, the 

Petitioner disregards the record in this case, including, but not limited to: the pre-trial 

proceedings; the proceedings during trial when the verdict form was addressed by the 

parties and the court; and the cha'rge to the' jury. When tnese matters are considered, it 

is clear that the Petitioner's claim is without merit and was waived. 

With respect to the pre-trial proceedings, the Petitioner filed a written pre-trial 

objection to Mr, Liston's proposed verdict form. 3 J.A. At 000062 -65. In the written 

objection, the Petitioner objected to the verdict form containing a line for "compensation 

for a permanent injury" and a line for "loss of enjoyment of life." At the close of the 

evidence on the compensatory damages portion of the trial, the trial court addressed the 

Petitioner's objection. J.A. at 568 - 569. After hearing from the parties and consulting 

3 The written objection cited hereto was filed on or about January 5, 2012, prior to 
the original trial date. 
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Flannery, the trial court determined that "compensation for permanent injury" should 

remain on the verdict form and that "compensation for future loss of enjoyment of life" 

should be removed. Id. Contrary to the Petitioner's assertion, the trial court's use of 

"compensation for a permanent injury" on the verdict form obviously meant compensation 

for the permanent effect of the injury itself on the capability of the plaintiff to function as a 

whole man as set forth in Flannery. Further, by making this correction to the verdict form, 

the trial court addressed any concern regarding duplication of damages. 

B. 	 When the verdict form is read in conjunction with the jury instructions, 
it is clear that there was no duplication of damages in this case. 

It is well established when reviewing issues concerning a verdict form that the 

verdict form should be. read along with the ch~rge to the jury. Perrine v. E. I. Du Pont de 

Nemours & Co., 694 S.E.2d 815 (W Va. 2010). In the present case, the Petitioner 

essentially argues that the verdict form, by having separate line items for future pain and 

suffering and permanent injury, somehow resulted in a duplication of damages. This 
~ 	 ( • f '. 

argument is dispatched quickly when reference is made to the charge to the jury. 

During the charge to the jury, the trial court clearly and accurately instructed the jury 

as to law pertaining to permanent injury and future damages. J.A. at 596 - 602. With 

regard to future damages, the trial court instructed the jury: 

The Plaintiff seeks to recover future damages from the Defendant in this 
case. Future damages are those sums awarded to an injured party for: 

1. 	 Residual orfuture effects of an injury with have reduced 
the capability of an individual to function as a whole 
person. 

2. 	 Future medical expenses. 
3. 	 Future pain and suffering, and 
4. 	 Future lost wages. 
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With respect the Respondent's claim of permanent injury, the trial court instructed the jury 

as follows: 

There is a claim that Samuel Liston's injuries are permanent. Therefore, 
when you are considering future damages you are only to consider future 
damages that you find are reasonably certain to occur to Samuel Liston. 
The extent or seriousness of a permanent injury is measured by determining 
how the injury has deprived Samuel Liston of his customary activities and 
has reduced his capacity to function as a whole person. 

J.A. at 600 -601. 

After reviewing the above referenced instructions, it is clear that the jury was 

properly advised as to what future damages could be awarded and what the jury was to 

consider when awarding any judgment for a permanent injury. In other words, when 

considering whether to award compensation for a permanent injury, the jury was to 

consider how the injury deprived Mr. Liston of his customary activities and whether the 

injury reduced his capacity to function as a whole person. There is nothing to suggest in 

the instructions that compensation for a permanent injury, as used on the verdict form, .. '. '. . 
included compensation for future pain and suffering. In fact, the jury verdict illustrated that 

the jury understood the law and individually considered each of the four (4) categories of 

future damages. Importantly, the jury did not award "compensation for future emotional 

distress and mental anguish" or "future lost wages." 

C. 	 Regardless, the Petitioner failed to object to the line item "[f]uture pain 
and suffering" being included on the verdict form and, consequently, 
is precluded from raising this issue on appeal. 

West Virginia law is clear that where a party fails to object to. a verdict form at the 

time of trial, those objections are waived. If a litigant fails to object to a jury instruction or 

the court's charge, that litigant has waived the right to assert such objection for the first 
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time in a post-trial motion or on appeal. W Va. R. Civ. P. 51; see also Pinnacle Mining Co. 

of N. W Va. v. Duncan Aircraft Sales of Fl., 182 W. Va. 307, 309, 387 S.E.2d 542, 544 

(1 9S9)(recognizing that objections to jury instructions cannot be raised for the first time in 

a post-trial motion to set aside the verdict). "A party may only assign error to the giving of 

instructions if he objects thereto before arguments to the jury are begun stating distinctly 

the matter to which he objects and the grounds of his objection." Tracy v. Cottrell, 206 W. 

Va. 363, 376, 524 S.E.2d 879, 892 (1999), quoting Roberts v. Powell, 157 W. Va. 1-99,207 

S.E.2d 123 (1973). Put another way, "[a] litigant may not silently acquiesce to an alleged 

error. .. and then raise that error as a reason for reversal on appeal." See Page v. 

Columbia Natural Res. Inc., 198, W. Va. 378,389,480 S.E.2d 817 (1996). Therefore, this 

Court should refuse to consider instructional error. .. unless an objection was made at 

trial." See Tracy, 206 W. Va. at 376. 

In the present case, the Petitioner never objected to the verdict form containing a 

Iilie item for compensation for ''future pain and sUffering" when objecting to the line item 

"compensation for a permanent injury" and is prohibited from making such objection now. 

Thus, in accordance with established precedent, this Court should refuse to consider this 

issue. 

II. 	 The jUry did not duplicate damages in its awards for permanent injury and 
past loss of enioyment of life. 

As established above, it is clear from the jury instructions, verdict form and the jury's 

verdict, that the jury's award of compensation for permanent injury was for the future effect 

of Mr. Liston's permanent injuries, proven to a reasonable degree of certainty, and did not 

include compensation for his "past" loss of enjoyment of loss damages which only needed 
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to be proven by a preponderance of the evidence and were separately awarded by the jury 

on the verdict form. Contrary to the Petitioner's apparent contention to the contrary, the 

.. _.juJY w.as.. properly instr:ucted as to the law that damages for past loss of enjoyment of life 

are for "past" damages incurred from the date of the accident up to the present time and 

that damages for permanent injury are for the future effect of the injury on the plaintiffs 

capacity to function as a whole person, proven to a reasonable degree of certainty. (See 

Jury Instructions, J.A. 578 - 605). 

Moreover, the Petitioner waived all objections to the jury's award for "past loss of 

enjoyment of life" by failing to object to said line item being on the verdict form prior to the 

trial court administering the charge or delivering the verdict form to the jury, and, 

consequently, should be precluded from raising this issue on appeal. As set forth above, 

this Court should not entertain an assignment of error where the party has failed to make 

a timely objection at trial.4 In the present case, the Petitioner never objected to the verdict 

. form 'containing an award for "past loss of enjoyment of life." Therefore, the Petitioner 

should be prohibited from raising this new issue on appeal. 

III. 	 After Petitioner's counsel "opened-the-door", the trial court properly allowed 
Respondent's counsel to ask one question regarding the possibility of 
Shamblin-type excess coverage. 

The Petitioner is also wrong in asserting that the trial court committed error by 

allowing Respondent's counsel to ask a single question of the Petitioner as to the 

Petitioner's understanding regarding the amount of liability insurance coverage that he had. 

40ne of the reasons for this established rule is obviously to provide the trial court 
with an opportunity to correct any error, rather than to allow (and encourage) a litigant to 
await the outcome of the jury's verdict and then make an issue of the matter on appeal if 
the verdict does not go his way. 

-14



The Petitioner makes this claim even though it was the Petitioner who introduced his 

wealth, or the alleged lack thereof, during the punitive damages phase of the trial, which 

was the only reason that insurance coverage was brought before the jury. In response, 

Mr. Liston's counsel only brought forth the fact that the Petitioner had insurance coverage 

and did not inquire as to the amount of such coverage, as both parties were well aware that 

the amount of coverage the Petitioner may have in this matter was under debate. 

Nevertheless, Petitioner's counsel asked the Petitioner the amount of his insurance 

coverage. After the Petitioner "opened-the-door" on the issue of the amount of insurance 

coverage, Mr. Liston's counsel wanted to ask if this truly was the Petitioner's 

understanding. However, Petitioner's counsel objected. 

The trial court then correctly determined that Petitioner's counsel had opened-the

door to further inquiry as to the amount of insurance coverage that may be available to the 

Petitioner, and limited Mr. Liston's counsel to one (1) question regarding the possibility of 

additional coverage. The one question was whether or not it was the F'letitioner's 

understanding that there may be additional coverage to pay a verdict. This was clearly not 

error. 

First, it was the Petitioner who brought forth his wealth, or alleged lack thereof, 

which allowed Mr. Liston's counsel to inquire as to insurance coverage under the Court's 

holdings in Games v. Fleming, 186 W. Va. 656,413 S.E.2d 897 (1991), and Wheeler v. 

Murphy, 192 W.va. 325, 452 S.E.2d 416 (1994). As stated above, Petitioner's counsel 

then asked the Petitioner the amount of the policy, when she, and the Petitioner knew the 

amount of coverage was in question. If the amount of coverage was not in question, then 

Petitioner could have easily answered the question on re-direct in the negative. Instead, 
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the Petitioner affirmed that it was his understanding that he may have additional coverage 

beyond the stated policy limit. 

The Petitioner wishes to have his cake and eat it too. However, the one question 

asked by Mr. Liston's counsel was clearly not error. Neither was the simple cautionary 

instruction given in the charge. Under the circumstances created by the Petitioner, both 

were proper and necessary to avoid misleading the jury. 

Moreover, even assuming arguendo that it could have otherwise been error (had 

Petitioner not opened-the-door as the trial court correctly determined), it was invited error: 

''''Invited error" is a cardinal rule of appellate review applied to a wide range 
of conduct. It is a branch of the doctrine of waiver which prevents a party 
from inducing an inappropriate or erroneous [ruling] and then later seeking 
to profit from that error. The idea of invited error is ... to protect principles 
underlying notions of judicial economy and integrity by allocating appropriate 
responsibility for the inducement of error. Having induced an error, a party 
in a normal case may not at a later stage of the [proceedings] use the error 
to set aside its immediate and adverse consequences.

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